A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND DECISION 

BELOW 

 

 Christopher Posey, the petitioner, asks this Court to grant 

review of the Court of Appeals’ decision terminating review, 

issued on September 24, 2024. 

B. ISSUES FOR WHICH REVIEW SHOULD BE 

GRANTED 

 

1. Whether an objective observer could conclude that the 

prosecutor apparently intentionally appealed to the racial biases 

by questioning a young Black man about an irrelevant 

photograph depicting him gratuitously holding a handgun and 

cash? 

2. Whether Mr. Posey was denied his right to the 

effective assistance of counsel where counsel failed to object to 

the prosecutor’s questioning of Mr. Posey about the irrelevant 

photograph depicting him gratuitously holding a handgun and 

cash? 
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3. Whether the law eliminating the scoring of prior 

juvenile adjudications in an offender score calculation applies 

to pre-act cases where the case is on appeal and the conviction 

is not final? 

4. Whether in requiring Mr. Posey to submit to drug and 

alcohol testing as a condition of community custody is unlawful 

where there was no evidence of drug or alcohol use by Mr. 

Posey? This Court has granted review of this issue in State v. 

Nelson, No. 102942-0.1 

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

 

 Mr. Posey refers this Court to his statement of the case in 

his opening brief. Br. of App. at 8-26. 

 To summarize, Mr. Posey’s ex-girlfriend accused Mr. 

Posey, in broad daylight at about 12:30 p.m., of jumping 

through her bedroom window uninvited as she was asleep in 

                                                 
1 

https://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate_trial_courts/supreme/issue

s/casesNotSetAndCurrentTerm.pdf  

https://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate_trial_courts/supreme/issues/casesNotSetAndCurrentTerm.pdf
https://www.courts.wa.gov/appellate_trial_courts/supreme/issues/casesNotSetAndCurrentTerm.pdf
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her bed with her platonic friend, Victor Garcia. She accused 

him of forcing Mr. Garcia to leave, assaulting her, and of 

digitally raping her in the living room shortly before the police 

responded and knocked on the front door. RP 550-59, 568-73. 

 The evidence did not corroborate her accusations. No 

photograph showed her room or the house in disarray, let alone 

broken objects as she claimed; no photograph or officer 

testimony showed the screen on her window off and no 

fingerprint evidence was introduced despite fingerprints being 

collected. RP 452-53, 509, 664, 670; Ex. 24. The accuser’s 

parents, who also lived in the home, did not testify. Mr. Garcia 

did not testify. Neither did any neighbor. The prosecution’s 

case rested almost entirely on the testimony of the accuser. 

 Mr. Posey testified in his defense. He explained 

how his ex-girlfriend had lured him to the home to try to 

collect a debt. RP 706-11. He introduced copies of text 

messages showing his ex-girlfriend was extorting him. 

RP 717-26, 776-77, 885-89; Ex. 204-A Ex. 205-A Ex. 
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206-A. Calling Mr. Posey a “nigga,” she said people 

would believe her—a white woman, over him—a Black 

man. Ex. 206-A. 

The prosecutor questioned Mr. Posey about a photograph 

depicting him gratuitously holding a gun and fanning cash. RP 

753-55; Ex. 25. The picture was initially admitted over Mr. 

Posey’s objection, but later withdrawn when the prosecutor 

realized he had made a mistake in questioning Mr. Posey about 

the photograph and having it admitted. RP 846-47. 

 The jury convicted Mr. Posey of first degree burglary, 

second degree rape, and second degree assault. Mr. Posey’s 

sentence was increased based on his juvenile adjudications.  

Except for legal financial obligations, the Court of 

Appeals affirmed the judgment and sentence. 
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D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 

 

1. The prosecutor apparently intentionally appealed to 

racial biases by eliciting irrelevant testimony from Mr. 

Posey about a photograph depicting him, a Black man, 

gratuitously holding a gun and fanning cash. Review 

should be granted to expound on what constitutes 

race-based prosecutorial misconduct under 

Washington’s objective observer standard.  

 

Criminal defendants have a constitutional right to a fair 

trial. U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV; Const. art. I, §§ 3, 22; State 

v. Bagby, 200 Wn.2d 777, 787, 522 P.3d 982 (2023); State v. 

Zamora, 199 Wn.2d 698, 708, 512 P.3d 512 (2022). “The 

prosecutor owes a duty to defendants to see that their rights to a 

constitutionally fair trial are not violated.” State v. Monday, 171 

Wn.2d 667, 676, 257 P.3d 551 (2011).  

Misconduct by a prosecutor may deprive the defendant of 

their constitutional right to a fair trial. Zamora, 199 Wn.2d at 

708. A prosecution’s improper examination of a defendant or 

introduction of inadmissible evidence is misconduct, especially 

where it creates a derogatory depiction of the defendant or 

appeals to racial biases. Bagby, 200 Wn.2d at 795-98, 801-02 
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(questions about Black defendant’s “nationality” were 

misconduct). 

Before trial, Mr. Posey moved to exclude any prior bad 

acts evidence under ER 404(b). CP 15-18. Under ER 404(b), 

other “acts” are inadmissible “to show the character of a person 

to prove the person acted in conformity with it on a particular 

occasion.” State v. Everybodytalksabout, 145 Wn.2d 456, 466, 

39 P.3d 294 (2002).  

The prosecutor partly agreed with the motion. The 

prosecutor, however, represented it might seek to elicit 

testimony about a photograph that the prosecutor claimed Mr. 

Posey sent the accuser, which depicted Mr. Posey “holding 

what appears to be a pistol, fanning out a number of -- what 

looks like a fairly large amount of cash.”  RP 62. 

 During the prosecution’s cross-examination of Mr. 

Posey, the prosecutor asked if Mr. Posey ever tried to 

intimidate the accuser. RP 753. Mr. Posey answered, no. RP 

753. Without a hearing outside the jury’s presence, and after 
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questioning regarding the accuser’s room, RP 753-54, the 

prosecution showed Mr. Posey the photograph: 
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Ex. 25; RP 754.  

Repeatedly asked about the photograph, Mr. Posey 

explained the gun and money were “props” for a “music video,” 

to which the prosecutor appeared to express skepticism: 

 Q. Okay. Fair enough. All right. Showing what’s 

been marked as 25. Who is that in that picture?  

 

A. That’s me.  

 

Q. Who took that picture?  

 

A. [My accuser]. That’s at my brother’s music 

video shoot.  

 

Q. Okay. So explain to me what happened in this 

photograph, what the deal is.  

 

A. I was a stand-in and then that’s me holding 

money and a weapons prop.  

 

Q. It’s a weapons prop?  

 

A. Yes.  

 

Q. And [the accuser] took that?  

 

A. Yes, she was there.  

 

Q. And she took it at your request?  

 

A. Yeah.  
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Q. And when did that happen?  

 

A. 2016, 2000 -- 2000 -- end of 2016 beginning of 

2017.  

 

Q. So when you-all were together. You and -- you-

all being you and [the accuser]?  

 

A. Yeah. 

 

Q. And she took that at your request?  

 

A. Yeah.  

 

Q. And you -- that was not a real pistol in your 

hand?  

 

A. No.  

 

Q. Was it real money?  

 

A. No, it’s prop money.  

 

Q. Okay. So it’s prop money and it’s -- the idea is 

that it’s going to – what’s – what’s the theme of 

the music video?  

 

A. Just like hip hop rap. 

 

Q. Okay. 

 

RP 753-55 (emphases added). 
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 Over Mr. Posey’s objection to relevance, the court 

admitted the photograph into evidence. RP 755. 

 The next day, the prosecutor confessed this had all been a 

mistake and that he would not object to having the exhibit 

withdrawn. RP 846-47. The court withdrew the exhibit, but did 

not strike the related testimony or otherwise instruct the jury. 

RP 846-47. 

 As the prosecutor himself belatedly recognized, he 

committed serious misconduct. Indeed, it was race-based 

misconduct.  

Claims of race-based misconduct are analyzed using an 

objective observer standard. Bagby, 200 Wn.2d at 792. The 

focus is on the impact of prosecutor’s act, not the prosecutor’s 

subjective intent. Id. at 791-93. Unpreserved claims of racial 

misconduct require relief if the misconduct “flagrantly or 

apparently intentionally appealed to jurors’ potential racial 

bias.” Id. at 793. This is determined based on “whether an 

objective observer could view the prosecutor’s questions and 
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comments as an appeal to jurors’ potential prejudice, bias, or 

stereotypes in a manner that undermined the defendant’s 

credibility or the presumption of innocence.” Id. (emphasis 

added). 

“An ‘objective observer’ is an individual who is aware of 

the history of race and ethnic discrimination in the United 

States and that implicit, institutional, and unconscious biases, in 

addition to purposeful discrimination, have influenced jury 

verdicts in Washington State.” Id. at 793, n.5. This standard 

derives from GR 37; it was adopted eliminate the blight of 

racism in our courts, particularly as experienced by Black 

people. Zamora, 199 Wn.2d at 717-19; see State v. Waits, 200 

Wn.2d 507, 521, 520 P.3d 49 (2022) (“It goes without saying 

that the criminal legal system disproportionately affects the 

poor and people of color.”); State v. Gregory, 192 Wn.2d 1, 22, 

427 P.3d 621 (2018) (taking “judicial notice of implicit and 

overt racial bias against black defendants in this state”); Letter 
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from Wash. State Sup. Ct. to Members of Judiciary & Legal 

Cmty. (June 4, 2020).2 

Under the objective observer standard, the court 

considers “(1) the content and subject of the questions and 

comments, (2) the frequency of the remarks, (3) the apparent 

purpose of the statements, and (4) whether the comments were 

based on evidence or reasonable inferences in the record.” 

Bagby, 200 Wn.2d at 794. 

First, the content and subject of the questions concerned 

whether Mr. Posey was holding a real gun in the picture. It is a 

racist trope that young Black men are dangerous. Bagby, 200 

Wn.2d at 801 (plurality opinion). Here, the prosecutor’s 

examination created an image for the jury of Mr. Posey holding 

a gun and displaying cash. This objectively created a serious 

risk of racial bias. 

                                                 
2 

https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/publicUpload/Supreme%20

Court%20News/Judiciary%20Legal%20Community%20SIGN

ED%20060420.pdf. 

https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/publicUpload/Supreme%20Court%20News/Judiciary%20Legal%20Community%20SIGNED%20060420.pdf
https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/publicUpload/Supreme%20Court%20News/Judiciary%20Legal%20Community%20SIGNED%20060420.pdf
https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/publicUpload/Supreme%20Court%20News/Judiciary%20Legal%20Community%20SIGNED%20060420.pdf
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“When a participant in the trial uses language that could 

evoke racist stereotypes, courts should not presume that such 

language has no effect—on them or on the jurors.” Henderson 

v. Thompson, 200 Wn.2d 417, 439, 518 P.3d 1011 (2022). 

Thus, even assuming the jurors did not see the photograph 

(which is uncertain because the prosecution displayed it to Mr. 

Posey during his testimony), the questioning by the prosecutor 

of Mr. Posey appealed to the racial biases of the jurors. See also  

Turner v. Murray, 476 U.S. 28, 36, 106 S. Ct. 1683, 90 L. Ed. 

2d 27 (1986) (“there is some risk of racial prejudice influencing 

a jury whenever there is a crime involving interracial 

violence.”). 

Beyond the questioning about whether the gun was 

“real,” the related questioning about whether Mr. Posey was 

holding “real money” and the “theme of the music video” (“hip 

hop rap”) were also irrelevant and prejudicial. This also 

apparently intentionally appealed to the racial biases of the 
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jurors, all whom were white.3 Rap and hip-hop are predominant 

in Black culture. Rap culture is associated with a glorification 

of violence, particularly against women.4 Rap is also associated 

with glorifying and flaunting wealth.5 In short, the testimony 

created a stereotypical image of Mr. Posey for the jury: a young 

Black man who flaunts money and values violence. This was 

improper under ER 404(b) and created a risk of implicit racial 

bias. See State v. DeLeon, 185 Wn.2d 478, 489, 374 P.3d 95 

                                                 
3 CP 292, 304, 310, 346, 376, 394, 400, 424, 436, 448, 

454, 466, 471-73; RP 351-52, 436-37, 937, 958-59. 

 
4 See A.D. Carson, The Conversation, When all else fails 

to explain American violence, blame a rapper and hip-hop 

music (June 14, 2022) (“Rap has long been used to 

conspicuously stereotype, caricature and reinforce mythologies 

about Black people”), available at 

https://theconversation.com/when-all-else-fails-to-explain-

american-violence-blame-a-rapper-and-hip-hop-music-184373. 

 
5 See Alex Harris, Neon Music, THE MANY SIDES OF 

MONEY: HOW SONGS EXPLORE WEALTH, MATERIALISM, 

ENVY, AND POP CULTURE (April 19, 2023) (“Hip-hop music 

has been at the forefront of exploring the relationship between 

money and society.”), available at https://neonmusic.co.uk/the-

many-sides-of-money-how-songs-explore-wealth-materialism-

envy-and-pop-culture/.  

https://theconversation.com/when-all-else-fails-to-explain-american-violence-blame-a-rapper-and-hip-hop-music-184373
https://theconversation.com/when-all-else-fails-to-explain-american-violence-blame-a-rapper-and-hip-hop-music-184373
https://neonmusic.co.uk/the-many-sides-of-money-how-songs-explore-wealth-materialism-envy-and-pop-culture/
https://neonmusic.co.uk/the-many-sides-of-money-how-songs-explore-wealth-materialism-envy-and-pop-culture/
https://neonmusic.co.uk/the-many-sides-of-money-how-songs-explore-wealth-materialism-envy-and-pop-culture/
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(2016) (rejecting notion that the defendant’s taste in music was 

evidence of gang involvement); State v. Salas, 1 Wn. App. 2d 

931, 946, 408 P.3d 383 (2018) (“juxtaposition of images and 

captions” in prosecutor’s slides communicated message that the 

defendant “was by nature an aggressive and intimidating 

person,” something “the prosecutor could not, and did not, 

argue aloud”).  

On the second consideration, the remarks were not 

frequent. But that is because the prosecution realized it had 

made a grave mistake. RP 846-47. 

On third consideration, the apparent purpose of the 

statements, the prosecution may have subjectively had 

impeachment in mind, but it failed to elicit the necessary 

foundation. The apparent intentional purpose, viewed 

objectively, was an appeal to the implicit racial bias of the jury. 

See Bagby, 200 Wn.2d at 794-95 (discussing how appeals to 

racial bias are often implicit rather than blatant); Henderson, 

200 Wn.2d at 432-33 (same). 
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On the fourth consideration, the prosecution’s 

examination of Mr. Posey was not supported by the record. 

Rather than hold a hearing outside the presence of the jury to 

determine whether there was any foundation for the notion that 

Mr. Posey sent the photograph to his accuser, the prosecutor 

chose to question Mr. Posey about the photograph in the jury’s 

presence. This was contrary to the prosecutor’s representation 

that the matter would be addressed outside the jury’s presence. 

RP 62-63. 

Given these circumstances and the nature of testimony, 

an objective observer “could”6 view the prosecutor’s actions  

as appealing to the jurors’ possible prejudices, biases, or 

stereotypes in a manner that undermined Mr. Posey’s credibility 

and the presumption of innocence. Bagby, 200 Wn.2d at 802. 

 The Court of Appeals agreed with Mr. Posey that under 

the first Bagby factor, the prosecutor’s “questioning could have 

                                                 
6 The “could” standard is not a “would” standard. State v. 

Tesfasilasye, 200 Wn.2d 345, 361, 518 P.3d 193 (2022). 
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evoked images consistent with the harmful stereotype that 

young Black men are dangerous” and that Mr. “Posey’s concern 

about these themes has merit.” Slip op. at 13.  

 Nonetheless, the appellate court concluded “that an 

objective observer could not view the prosecutor’s questions 

and comments as a flagrantly or apparently intentionally appeal 

to potential racial prejudice, bias, or stereotypes in a manner 

that undermined Posey’s credibility or the presumption of 

innocence.” Slip op. at 15. The court’s conclusion was based on 

its determination that the other three factors did not support a 

conclusion of race-based prosecutorial misconduct. Slip op. at 

13-15. 

 On the second factor, the court emphasized that the 

statements were isolated when viewing the trial as a whole. Slip 

op. at 14. But this does not mean race-based misconduct has not 

occurred. Here, the misconduct occurred during perhaps the 

most critical part of the trial for Mr. Posey—during his 

testimony. If the jury found Mr. Posey credible, it should have 
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found reasonable doubt and acquitted. Instead, the jury may 

have discredited Mr. Posey based on the implicit racial 

stereotype that young Black men are dangerous, and that Mr. 

Posey likely committed the charged crimes.  

 On the third factor, the court reasoned the apparent 

purpose of the questions was impeachment. Slip op. at 14. But 

objectively, the apparent purpose could also be paint a racist 

stereotype for the jury—Mr. Posey is a dangerous young Black 

man who flaunts guns and money. This court has rejected a 

subjective inquiry for whether a prosecutor has engaged in race-

based misconduct; the focus of prosecutorial misconduct claims 

is objective. Bagby, 200 Wn.2d at 792-93 (“We are concerned 

with the impact of racial bias—not a person’s intent.”). 

 And on the fourth factor, the Court of Appeals reasoned 

that the State’s questioning was connected to evidence: a photo 

of Mr. Posey. Slip op. at 14-15. The photograph, however, was 

irrelevant. The questioning created a “derogatory depiction[] of 

the defendant” in the minds of the jury, creating a risk of racial 
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prejudice. State v. Walker, 182 Wn.2d 463, 478 & n.4, 341 P.3d 

976 (2015). 

 The court’s application of the Bagby factors waters down 

the race-based prosecutorial misconduct standard. Beyond 

being misapplied, the appellate court’s balancing of the factors 

will stem confusion. It indicates that if one factor supports a 

determination of race-based misconduct, this is not enough. 

Review is warranted to resolve the conflict between this 

Court’s precedents and the opinion in this case, RAP 

13.4(b)(1), to address this significant constitutional issue, RAP 

13.4(b)(3), and because the issue one of substantial public 

interest, RAP 13.4(b)(4). 

2. Review should be granted on the related issue of 

whether Mr. Posey was deprived of his constitutional 

right to the effective assistance of counsel by counsel’s 

failure to object to the prosecutor’s race-based 

misconduct. 

 

 Mr. Posey also argued that his counsel’s failure to object 

the prosecutor’s misconduct deprived him of his right to the 

effective assistance of counsel. Br. of App. at 43-50. Counsel 
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had already moved to exclude “other acts” evidence under ER 

404(b). Counsel had no reasonable strategic basis for permitting 

the prosecutor to create in the jurors’ minds that Mr. Posey fit 

the racist trope of being a dangerous young Black man who 

flaunts guns and money. 

 The Court of Appeals did not disagree that counsel was 

deficient, but ruled that Mr. Posey had not proved prejudice, 

i.e., a reasonable probability of a different result even though 

the “concern about implicit bias has merit.” Slip op. at 17.  

The case at trial turned on the credibility of Mr. Posey 

and his accuser. Implicit or unconscious racial bias in one or 

more jurors could have easily led a juror to deem Mr. Posey to 

be the “type” of person who would burglarize, assault, and rape.  

The Court should grant review on this issue of substantial 

public interest, which is also a constitutional issue that should 

be decided by this Court. RAP 13.4(b)(3), (4). 
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3. Review should be granted to decide whether the law 

eliminating the use of most juvenile adjudications in 

offender score calculations applies to sentencing on 

pre-act offenses where the case is not final. 

 

Under the Sentencing Reform Act, the offender score and 

offense seriousness level determines the standard range 

sentence. RCW 9.94A.510, 530(1). The offender score is the 

total sum of points accrued from prior convictions rounded 

down to the nearest whole number. RCW 9.94A.525.  

Mr. Posey has three prior Class B, non-violent juvenile 

adjudications that were counted in his offender score and 

increased his punishment. CP 109-10, 113-43, 169; RP 4/1/22.  

The legislature passed a law mandating that most prior 

juvenile felony adjudications do not count in the offender score. 

Laws of 2023, ch. 415, § 2.7 The law took effect on July 23, 

2023, while Mr. Posey’s case was on direct appeal.  

                                                 
7 

https://leg.wa.gov/CodeReviser/documents/sessionlaw/2023pa

m2.pdf. The exceptions are for first and second degree murder 

along with class A felony sex offenses.  

https://leg.wa.gov/CodeReviser/documents/sessionlaw/2023pam2.pdf
https://leg.wa.gov/CodeReviser/documents/sessionlaw/2023pam2.pdf
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Following previous decisions from the Court of Appeals, 

the Court of Appeals held this law does not apply to pre-act 

offenses or to sentences that are pending on appeal.  

Interpretation of a statute is a legal issue, reviewed de 

novo. State v. Jenks, 197 Wn.2d 708, 713, 487 P.3d 482 (2021). 

In ruling that the law did not apply, the Court of Appeals 

relied on two statutes that generally require that sentences be 

determined based on the law in effect at the time of the offense. 

RCW 9.94A.345; RCW 10.01.040; slip op. at 3-5.  

The Court of Appeals reasoned that the language of the 

statute did not evince intent to apply to pre-act cases, including 

non-final cases on direct appeal. Slip op. at 5-8. 

A statute need not have express language for it to operate

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