FILED
SUPREME COURT
STATE OF WASHINGTON
11/21/2024 2:47 PM
BY ERIN L. LENNON
CLERK

NO. 103571-3

SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

CHRISTOPHER LAMONT POSEY,

Petitioner.

Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Judge Susan Adams

No. 19-1-00036-0

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARY E. ROBNETT Pierce County Prosecuting Attorney

Teresa Chen
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 31762 / OID #91121
930 Tacoma Ave. S, Rm 946
Tacoma, WA 98402
(253) 798-6517

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Posey identifies no RAP 13.4(b) consideration which would justify review of the prosecutorial error claim.

Posey alleges the Unpublished Opinion must have "water[ed] down" the *Bagby* factors in order to rule against him. Pet. at 19. But the petition does not actually identify any conflict with this Court's precedent. *Id.* (citing RAP 13.4(b)(1)). In fact, it is Posey's petition which conflicts with this Court's precedent. Posey rejects the second and fourth *Bagby* factors. Pet. at 17-18.

The second factor assesses the frequency of challenged remarks. *Bagby*, 200 Wn.2d at 793. Posey disagrees that frequency matters. Pet. at 15. He argues that, instead of frequency, the consideration should be whether the remarks were a "critical part of the trial" in Posey's opinion. Pet. at 17.

⁷ The court of appeals found the questions "minor in the context of the entire trial." Unpub. Op. at 16

The fourth factor assesses whether the comments were based on evidence or reasonable inferences in the record. *Bagby*, 200 Wn.2d at 793. The prosecutor did not comment at all. He only asked questions. And Posey cannot deny that the questions were connected to evidence. So instead, he argues that the consideration should be whether the evidence was relevant.⁸ Pet. at 18.

It is Posey's analysis, not the court's, that conflicts with precedent.

Posey also misrepresents the court's analysis of the third factor (an assessment of the apparent purpose of the statements). He alleges without argument that the court considered the subjective, rather than objective, purpose of the prosecutor's questions. Pet. at 15, 18. But no subjective record exists. In the absence of an objection, the prosecutor never

_

⁸ Posey did not object on relevance grounds (or any other grounds) below. Because he testified, Posey's credibility is, of course, relevant. The questions were posed to impeach his credibility.

enunciated his purpose. The court found the apparent purpose to be impeachment, because the questioning immediately followed Posey's denial that he intimidates SK, because the questioning would have been admissible to impeach that denial, and because this is the most reasonable reading of the record. Unpub. Op. at 14. Posey would have the courts assume in the absence of evidence that the prosecutor asked the questions only to paint Posey as violent. That is not reasonable, where the evidence of the charged crimes of assault by strangulation (CP 90) and rape by forcible compulsion (CP 85) already made that point.

Posey alleges that his claim raises a significant constitutional question and an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. at 19 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4)). However, since the court of appeals only assiduously applied this Court's precedent, the allegation is unsubstantiated.

B. Where there was no prosecutorial error, defense counsel had no constitutional obligation to object such that this claim also raises no RAP 13.4(b) consideration.

Posey argues that his counsel's failure to object to the prosecutor's questions raises a significant constitutional question and an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. at 20 (citing RAP 13.4(b)(3) and (4)). It does not. The prosecutor committed no error. Where there is nothing to object to, counsel does not perform deficiently by failing to object.

Posey misrepresents that the court of appeals found his counsel's performance deficient for failing to object. Pet. at 20. The opinion makes no such finding. It only states that the questions regarding a gun and money "could have evoked images consistent with harmful stereotypes that young Black men are dangerous." Unpub. Op. at 13. This does not mean the questions were improper or the answers inadmissible. Here they were based on Posey's actual behavior toward the victim. He was actually violent and threatening toward her. The court

of appeals found the prosecutor "did not commit race-based prosecutorial misconduct." Unpub. Op. at 15.

Posey rejects the court's prejudice finding, repeating that the jury's verdict turned on his credibility. Pet. at 20; Unpub. Op. at 16. The court heard and rejected this argument. Posey's credibility was damaged in multiple, much more significant ways than a "benign" story about visiting a music video set. Unpub. Op. at 16.

Posey claimed he earned between \$30,000 and \$50,000 each summer, and yet the evidence was that he lived off his mother and girlfriends. 4RP 520-21, 538-40; 6RP 709, 734, 761-62, 764 (mother testifying Posey "hasn't contributed at all"). Posey lived rent-free at SK's house, using her car, borrowing her money, and having SK pay for his cell phone while SK was holding down three jobs and trying to save money for college. 4RP 514, 516, 521, 524, 538-41, 548-49; 6RP 706, 709, 730-33.

Posey claimed SK's family was "super prejudiced." 6RP 706, 736. This was not credible, where the family permitted him to live in their daughter's bedroom for two years and where Posey claimed he wanted to marry into the family. 4RP 521; 6RP 703-04, 763.

When police came to the door, Posey fled, hid in bushes, and abandoned his mother's car. 3RP 406-07, 489-91; 7RP 913-14, 927-28. If he had not harmed her, there would have been no reason for this.

Posey would testify that he did not believe they were really the police. 6RP 711-13, 743-44. This was not credible where the officers arrived in uniform in separate, marked patrol cars, knocked at length while loudly announcing themselves, and searched the neighborhood for him. 4RP 401-02, 406-07, 446; 6RP 650-52; 7RP 911, 913-14. Moreover, Posey would have known that police impounded his mother's car. 4RP 489-91; 7RP 927-28. And he would have learned that police came to

his mother's house that very day looking for him in relation to the incident with SK. 6RP 771; 7RP 929.

Posey claimed SK made up the allegations all over a dispute over a mere \$400. 6RP 706. This was not credible. Years passed between the rape and the trial. SK had moved away and gotten married. 4RP 514. When Posey's friend offered SK \$5000 to drop the charges, she rejected the money. 5RP 632. It was never about money.

Posey offered manipulable screenshots rather than his device for forensic testing. 1RP 66; 6RP 714, 717-28, 749-50 (screenshots allegedly obtained by other Snapchat users accessing uploaded content), 776-78; 7RP 933-34. Although Posey claimed SK had sent the messages, the sending account was, in fact, associated with another woman's photograph. 7RP 808. Posey claimed but could not prove that a screen shot of a message detail (phone number and date) was related to a particular message content. 6RP 714-16. Strangely, the message detail only showed a number where an account saved

in Posey's contacts would have displayed a name. 6RP 729-30. Moreover, Posey knew SK's password and allegedly was responsible for a hack of her PayPal account. 4RP 541-42; 6RP 708, 740. The jury could see that none of these messages could be tied to SK.

The sex videos Posey claimed SK sent him after the rape (6RP 723-24, 727-28, 787-89) were actually videos that Posey had made in 2016 without SK's knowledge and which he alone possessed. 5RP 613; 7RP 821.

The jury's verdict did not turn on Posey's benign description of an exhibit they never saw. He had no credibility long before then. The court's prejudice decision is sound.

There is no basis to accept review of this claim.

C. This year this Court has already twice rejected the claim that Laws of 2023, ch. 415 applies retroactively.

Posey argues that Laws of 2023, ch. 415, §2 (EHB 1324), which removed juvenile adjudications from adult offender scores, applies to his 2018 offenses. He claims that any

contrary decision conflicts with precedent and involves an issue of substantial public interest. Pet. at 29-30. In fact, the law on this matter is clear, and this Court had denied review of this very claim at least twice this year. Unpub. Op. at 21 (citing State v. Tester, 30 Wn. App. 2d 650, 546 P.3d 94, review denied, 556 P.3d 1094 (2024) and State v. Troutman, 30 Wn. App. 2d 592, 546 P.3d 458, review denied, 554 P.3d 1217 (2024)). The sentencing law which applies is that which existed at the time the current offenses were committed. Posey's offender score is correct.

The Timing Statute states that "[a]ny sentence imposed under this chapter shall be determined in accordance with the law in effect when the current offense was committed." RCW 9.94A.345 (emphasis added). The Savings Statute also requires that crimes be punished pursuant to the statutes in force at the time of commission, not sentencing or appeal.

.... Whenever any criminal or penal statute shall be amended or repealed, all offenses committed or penalties or forfeitures incurred while it was in force shall be punished or enforced as if it were in force, notwithstanding such amendment or repeal, unless a contrary intention is expressly declared in the amendatory or repealing act, and every such amendatory or repealing statute shall be so construed as to save all criminal and penal proceedings, and proceedings to recover forfeitures, pending at the time of its enactment, unless a contrary intention is expressly declared therein.

RCW 10.01.040 (emphasis added).

Posey cannot point to an express declaration of contrary intention. He argues that he does not need to. Pet. at 22 (citing *State v. Jenks*, 197 Wn.2d 708, 720, 487 P.3d 482 (2021)). However, even this authority requires that any legislative intent for retroactive application must be "expressed in words that fairly convey that intention." *State v. Jenks*, 197 Wn.2d 708, 720, 487 P.3d 482 (2021) (quoting *State v. Ross*, 152 Wn.2d 220, 238, 95 P.3d 1225 (2004) (quoting *State v. Kane*, 101 Wn. App. 607, 612, 5 P.3d 741 (2000) (quoting *State v. Zornes*, 78 Wn.2d 9, 13, 475 P.2d 109 (1970)))). And no part of the legislation conveys that intention. The aspirational language Posey points to says absolutely nothing about retroactivity.

So soon after *Jenks*, the legislature very well knew how to make a change in sentencing law that would apply retroactively. In fact, according to the legislative history and bill reports, a retroactivity provision was hotly debated and then removed from the bill. Compare H.B. 1324, § 3, 68th Leg., 2023 Reg. Sess. (Wash.) with Laws of 2023, ch. 415. In that debate, the legislature had the benefit of State v. Blake, 197 Wn.2d 170, 481 P.3d 521 (2021). It understood that if it gave retroactive effect to this amendment, it would not only affect people like Posey whose appeal has dragged on for more than two years, but it would affect every person currently incarcerated or serving community custody whose criminal history included juvenile history. Such a law would require an expenditure on the scale of *Blake*.

The change from the original bill is conclusive evidence that the law is not intended to apply to already sentenced matters which would necessarily involve offenses committed prior to the effective date. *Jenks*, 197 Wn2d at 721; *see also*

State v. Hirschfelder, 170 Wn.2d 536, 546-47, 242 P.3d 876 (2010).

This intent was further confirmed during the 2024 legislative session when HB 2065 was introduced. The bill would have applied HB 1324 to offenses "committed prior to July 23, 2023." *See* S.S.H.B. 2065, § 2, 68th Leg., 2024 Reg. Sess. The only reason to consider such a bill is because HB 1324 does not already apply to offenses committed prior to July 23, 2023. However, HB 2065 (2024) did not become law, defeated by the cost of the resentencings and the trauma the resentencings will inflict on victims and their families. *See* Senate Bill Report E2SHB 2065; Bill Information HB 2065 (2023-24).

Posey argues that the rule should be that the timing and savings statutes *never* apply absent a specific pronouncement. Pet. at 27-28. This is not logical. If this were the case, there would be no reason for passing the time and savings statutes.

Posey demonstrates no conflict of laws. And his request that this Court do what the legislature plainly did not and for which no appropriations have been made is not an issue of substantial public interest. Review must be denied.

D. The court of appeals' decision as to community custody number 12 only directly follows precedent.

Posey alleges that the court of appeals' opinion affirming community condition 12 conflicts with *State v. Jones*, 118 Wn. App. 199, 208, 76 P.3d 258 (2003). Pet. at 32. There is no conflict. The cases are distinguishable. The Unpublished Opinion directly follows controlling precedent.

Posey had alleged the condition (authorizing breath and urine testing) was not authorized under RCW 9.94A.703(3)(f) which permits a court to impose crime-related community custody conditions. Unpub. Op. at 25. But, of course, that is not the only statutory provision authorizing conditions.

The court of appeals found the provision was authorized by RCW 9.94A.703(2)(c). Unpub. Op. at 25-26 (citing *State v. Vant*, 145 Wn. App. 592, 603-04, 186 P.3d 1149 (2008)). This

statutory provision permits a court to prohibit the use of drugs or alcohol regardless of the offense. Unpub. Op. at 24-26.

If these prohibitions are ordered, the trial court has the authority to impose testing to enforce compliance with them. *See State v. Vant*, 145 Wn. App. 592, 603-04, 186 P.3d 1149 (2008) (holding that the sentencing court has authority to impose random urinalysis and breath analysis to monitor compliance with valid conditions). This includes imposing breath and urine testing. *See id*.

Unpub. Op. at 25-26. That is consistent with this Court's holding that the imposition of one condition (sex offender treatment) will authorize the imposition of another (plethysmograph testing) to monitor compliance with the first, *State v. Riles*, 135 Wn.2d 326, 346, 352, 957 P.2d 655 (1998), *abrogated on other grounds by State v. Valencia*, 169 Wn.2d 782, 239 P.3d 1059 (2010).

Here, the sentencing court ordered Posey not to use or consume alcohol, marijuana, or unprescribed controlled substances. CP 162-63 (standard condition 3 and special condition 11). Posey did not challenge these conditions.

Therefore, their enforcement via condition 12 was also authorized. CP 163 (special condition 12—requiring Posey to be available and to submit to urinallysis or breath analysis upon the request of the community corrections officer).

State v. Jones, 118 Wn. App. 199, 76 P.3d 258 (2003) does not regard a condition necessary to monitor compliance with another. It regarded a condition requiring participation in alcohol counseling. *Jones*, 118 Wn. App. at 208. Counseling is not a simple test of alcohol consumption. The case is distinguishable.

Posey also relies on the July grant of review in *State v. Nelson*, 3 Wn.3d 1007, 551 P.3d 441 (2024) (granted only on the issue of whether breath and urine testing may be ordered where drugs and alcohol played no role in the offense); Petition for Review at 23, *State v. Nelson*, 3 Wn.3d 1007, 551 P.3d 441 (filed Apr. 8, 2024).⁹ Again, the undecided case is

⁹ https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/petitions/102942-0%20Petition%20for%20Review.pdf

distinguishable. At oral argument on November 19, 2024, ¹⁰ the petitioner clarified that the challenge was on constitutional grounds and not statutory grounds. *See also*, Supp. Br. of Pet., *State v. Nelson*, 3 Wn.3d 1007, 551 P.3d 441 (filed Aug. 30, 2024). ¹¹ Conversely, Posey's claim has only ever been on statutory grounds. Moreover, Nelson's procedural posture is distinct, challenging a condition after revocation of a SSOSA and in violation of a negotiated plea agreement.

Posey has identified no conflict with precedent. There is only compliance with precedent. Review must be denied.

V. CONCLUSION

The State requests this Court deny review.

///

///

¹⁰ <u>https://tvw.org/video/washington-state-supreme-court-2024111172/</u>

¹¹https://www.courts.wa.gov/content/Briefs/A08/1029420%20S upplemental%20Brief%20of%20Petitioner.pdf

This document is in 14 point font and contains 4,195 words, excluding the parts of the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.